# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

WESTERN STATES PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S200475

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 1 7 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Case No. B225932
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC403167
The Honorable Robert L. Hess, Judge

# **OPENING BRIEF ON MERITS**

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
ALICIA FOWLER
Acting Chief Assistant Attorney General
PAUL D. GIFFORD
Senior Assistant Attorney General
FELIX E. LEATHERWOOD
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
BRIAN D. WESLEY
Deputy Attorney General

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Government Code section 15606, subdivisions (c) and (e) require the California State Board of Equalization (the "Board") to promulgate regulations to govern local property tax assessment practices and to publish instructions to guide county assessors on the appropriate appraisal methodologies to be used in valuing different types of real property to determine fair market value under "varying local circumstances." Based on this legislatively granted rulemaking authority, the Board, after public hearings, adopted Property Tax Rule 474, *Petroleum Refining Properties*. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 474 "Rule 474".)

Rule 474 creates a rebuttable presumption for the sole purpose of determining declines in fair market value under California Constitution article XIII A, section 2, subdivision (b) as implemented in Revenue and Taxation Code section 51 ("Proposition 8"). The Board adopted Rule 474 because it determined that the marketplace commonly buys and sells, and thus values, petroleum refineries' land, improvements and fixtures as a single appraisal unit. Rule 474 creates another exception to Rule 461(e) (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 461, subd. (e) ("Rule 461(e)")<sup>2</sup>, the Board's general appraisal unit regulation, to properly reflect how petroleum refineries are typically bought and sold in the marketplace so that county assessors will be able to properly appraise the fair market value of real property when there has been a decline in value under Proposition 8. (2 AA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Respondent later admitted during this action that petroleum refineries are, in fact, commonly bought and sold as a single unit, including fixtures. (AOB, pp. 13-14; WSPA MSJ, p. 46, at 8 AA 2343:14-18; 6 AA 1797-1798; 7 AA 1818-1819; see 2 AA 512.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.boe.ca.gov/lawguides/property/current/ptlg/rule/461.html.

354-375 [Final Statement of Reasons (FSR)], 1 AA 73-79 [FSR First Addendum], 1 AA 53-56 [FSR Second Addendum]). <sup>3</sup>

The questions presented for review are:

- 1. Whether the promulgation of Rule 474 to guide county assessors on the appropriate appraisal methodologies for the assessment of petroleum refineries was a proper exercise of the Board's authority pursuant to Government Code section 15606.
- 2. Whether the economic impact statement prepared by the Board prior to adopting Rule 474 complied with Government Code section 11346.5 of the Administrative Procedures Act (APA). (Gov. Code, §§ 11370 et. seq.)

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns the validity of Rule 474, a Board regulation that guides a county assessor's valuation of a petroleum refinery for property tax purposes, only when that unique type of property is claimed to have declined in value. Rule 474 creates a rebuttable presumption for the sole purpose of determining declines in fair market value under Proposition 8. The California Constitution requires county assessors to follow the *marketplace principle* in determining the fair market value of real property when its fair market value declines below Proposition 13's adjusted base-year value. (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 1 ("Proposition 13"); Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 2, subd. (b), implemented in Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 51 and 110.1;<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The designation "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix filed in the Court of Appeal. References thereto are indicated by "AA at p. [page], ln. [line]".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> All statutory references are to the Revenue and Taxation Code unless specifically stated otherwise.

see also Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 1, implemented in Rev. & Tax. Code, § 110, subd. (a).)

In this circumstance, section 51, subdivision (d) ("section 51(d)") defines "real property" as an "appraisal unit that persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a unit, or that is normally valued separately." Based on evidence and other information presented in public hearings showing beyond dispute that petroleum refineries are commonly bought and sold as single units, the Board promulgated Rule 474, which in part creates a rebuttable presumption that the land, improvements, and fixtures and other machinery and equipment classified as improvements for a petroleum refining property constitute a single appraisal unit, except when a decline in value is caused by disaster.

The Court of Appeal struck down the Board's Rule 474, effectively forcing assessors to do piecemeal valuations of petroleum refineries by treating their fixtures separately from their land and improvements, with the likely result of dramatically lowering the property tax assessments on petroleum refineries, despite undisputed evidence that the marketplace treats refineries as single units. In reaching its erroneous conclusion, the Court of Appeal misapplied or violated fundamental statutory construction rules, failed to give sufficient deference to the Board's longstanding interpretation of applicable constitutional and statutory provisions, and made some inaccurate factual assumptions. This Court should reverse the judgment and restore Rule 474, which is a reasonable regulation promulgated to carry out the Board's statutory mandate to guide county assessors in their valuations of petroleum refineries.

The Court of Appeal impermissibly dictated to the Board how it must prepare an "economic impact statement" ("EIS") and disregarded the fact that the purpose of the requirement that an administrative agency prepare an economic analysis is to assist the agency in making an "initial"

determination" of whether or not the proposed rule will "have a significant, statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business" ("Initial Determination"). (California Assn. of Medical Products Suppliers v. Maxwell-Jolly (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 286, 304-308; Gov. Code, §§ 11346.3, 11346.5, subd. (a)(7) & (a)(8).)

#### A. Background

Following the adoption of Proposition 13 and Rule 461 in 1978, petroleum refineries' fixtures were treated as a separate appraisal unit of "real property" under the general rule set forth in Rule 461(e). But in 2008, after hearing testimony from county assessors, the Board concluded that Rule 461(e)'s application to refinery property declines in value violated both the fair-market valuation provisions of the California Constitution and the marketplace valuation mandate of section 51, subdivision (a)(2). (2 AA 354-375 [FSR]; 1 AA 73-79 [FSR First Addendum], 53-56 [FSR Second Addendum]; Cal. Const. arts. XIII, § 1, & XIII A, §§ 1, 2; Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 51(a)(2), 51(d), 110(a); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 324 ("Rule 324")<sup>5</sup>.)

For most types of properties, fixtures typically sell separately from land and improvements in the marketplace. Consequently, the Board adopted Rule 461(e)'s general appraisal unit rule to apply to most types of properties to ensure that their declines in value were measured consistently with the Constitution's fair market valuation mandate. Also, for most types of properties, fixtures do not represent a significant component of value nor are they typically structurally integrated with the land and improvements, such as in typical commercial retail properties. However, as established during the rulemaking process, approximately 80 percent of the value of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.boe.ca.gov/lawguides/property/current/ptlg/rule/324.html; see also 2000 Amendment to Rule 324 at 8 AA 2244-2253.

petroleum refinery is in the fixtures, and the land and refinery fixtures are physically and functionally integrated, which materially differentiates petroleum refineries from most other types of manufacturing plants. (2 AA 358; 2 AA 520-528, 540-541; 6 AA 1781-1784.)

The rulemaking hearings established that petroleum refineries normally transfer as a single unit including fixtures. (2 AA 503-547; 6 AA 1596-1622.) This is unsurprising given that the majority of refinery real property consists of fixtures. (2 AA 520-528; 6 AA 1781-1784.) If a majority of the value of petroleum refineries is in its fixtures and a buyer wants to acquire an operating refinery, then the buyer will need to purchase the fixtures along with the land and improvements in order to acquire an intact operational unit. (Western States Petroleum Association ("WSPA") Motion for Summary Judgment ("MSJ"), p. 46, at 8 AA 2343:14-18; 6 AA 1797-1798; 7 AA 1818-1819; see Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB"), pp. 13-14.) Based on this evidence, the Board adopted Rule 474 to conform its appraisal unit regulations to properly reflect the refinery marketplace.

As part of the rulemaking process, the Board made an Initial Determination on whether the proposed regulation would have a significant statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business. (Gov. Code, § 11346.5, subd. (a)(8).) After analyzing relevant data and preparing an economic analysis, the Board made an Initial Determination that there would not be a significant adverse economic impact as a result of adopting Rule 474. The Board's EIS and Initial Determination were based on

(continued...)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Board's EIS is summarized by the Court of Appeal (Slip Opinion, pp. 23-24) and specific supporting information, including calculations, is found in the record. (See 1 AA 162-168 [Notice and EIS]; 3 AA 614-634 [Issue Paper No. 06-001 and Revenue Estimate]; 3 AA 635-646 [Notices to the public]; 1 AA 112-115 [Initial Statement of Reasons (ISR)].)

WSPA and County supplied data, and the rulemaking record does not contain substantial evidence that conflicts with the Board's determination. (2 AA 368.)

### B. Summary of Argument

Under Government Code section 15606, the Board must instruct county assessors on appropriate appraisal methodology. The Board's instructions must be based on the marketplace when Proposition 13 limits do not apply. (Cal. Const., arts. XIII, §1 & XIII A, §§ 1, 2.) Unlike Proposition 13, which places a limit on fair market valuation, Proposition 8 requires appraisals at fair market value when real property has declined in value below the property's Proposition 13 adjusted base year value. (State Bd. of Equalization v. Board of Supervisors (1980) 105 Cal.App.3d 813, 819, 822.) Section 51(d) follows the fair market valuation principle by defining "real property" as the appraisal unit valued by the marketplace when buying and selling different types of real property.

The Board adopted Rule 474 after receiving information and hearing testimony from county assessors and industry during the rulemaking process. (2 AA 354-375; 1 AA 73-79, 53-56; 2 AA 503-547; 6 AA 1596-1622; 6 AA 1759-1792.) The Board concluded that, to fulfill its responsibilities under Government Code section 15606 and apply the constitutional marketplace principle and section 51, it was required to adopt a regulation for county assessors providing a rebuttable presumption that the appropriate appraisal unit for petroleum refineries is a single appraisal unit including land, improvements, and fixtures.

In its decision that Rule 474 is invalid, the Court of Appeal misinterpreted section 51(d), because it concluded that the statute requires

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

that fixtures always constitute a separate appraisal unit for decline-in-value purposes. (Opinion, pp. 18-20.) Thus, in interpreting the statute defining "real property," the court created two alternative definitions for "real property" in concluding that the phrase "normally valued separately" must always mean "fixtures," despite marketplace circumstances. There is no evidence in the record that petroleum refinery fixtures are normally valued separately in the marketplace. To the extent that they have been valued separately by county assessors in the past for tax purposes, that circumstance can be ascribed to Rule 461(e), to which the Board has now made an exception for petroleum refineries in Rule 474.

The Board complied with the APA in adopting Rule 474. The Board heard extensive testimony from various experts in refinery appraisal. Both county assessors and industry participated in the rulemaking process. Acting in its quasi-legislative capacity, the Board determined that Rule 474 would not have a significant economic impact and that the compliance cost impact would be insignificant. (1 AA 162-168.) Using information provided by WSPA and the counties, the Board determined that California has over \$32 billion in refinery property, of which \$25 billion consists of fixtures. (3 AA 626-627; 2 AA 368.) The Board's analysis estimated that the annual increase in property tax from Rule 474's adoption would be \$1.4 million. In its letter of September 21, 2006, WSPA's representative estimated that Rule 474 would increase property taxes by \$5 to \$10 million. (2 AA 313.) WSPA, however, did not provide any supporting documentation for its estimate. (2 AA 368.) Based on the Board's analysis of the tax impact, the Board made its Initial Determination that Rule 474 would not have a significant economic impact.

The Court of Appeal ruled, however, that the Board's EIS did not comply with Government Code section 11346.5, subdivision (a)(8), because it used projections. (Opinion, pp. 25-27.) Forcing administrative

agencies to make extensive, in-depth analyses to produce actual figures when preparing an EIS is not an APA requirement and, in fact, will undermine agencies' ability to comply with the APA and add significantly to the cost of rulemaking. Agencies need flexibility when preparing an EIS. (California Assn. of Medical Products Suppliers v. Maxwell-Jolly, supra, 199 Cal.App.4th 286, 302.) Prohibiting the use of projections also violates existing precedent and will hinder and/or prevent agencies from engaging in rulemaking.

#### II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

WSPA filed its complaint for declaratory relief challenging the validity of Rule 474 under Government Code section 11350. WSPA alleged that Rule 474 is inconsistent with section 51(d) and violates the APA. (Gov. Code, § 11340 et. al.) WSPA limited its allegations of APA violations to necessity, authority, consistency, clarity, reference, and non-duplication. (1 AA 11-39, ¶¶ 31-39 and 50-55.)

In its motion for summary judgment, WSPA raised for the first time a violation of Government Code section 11346.5, subdivision (a)(9), arguing that no calculation of the economic impact on a "typical" or "representative" refinery had been made. (WSPA MSJ pp. 50-52, 8 AA 2347-2349.) Government Code section 11346.5, subdivision (a)(9), however, only relates to the "cost impact," that is, the cost of compliance, and not the tax impact, of Rule 474. (Gov. Code, § 11346.3, subd. (a) ["reporting, recordkeeping, or compliance requirements"].) During the Rule 474 rulemaking process, the Board made the required statement of no cost impact because Rule 474 contains no new compliance requirements.

The trial court granted WSPA's and denied the Board's cross-motion for summary judgment. The Board appealed the adverse trial court judgment to the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial

court's judgment. The Court of Appeal held that Rule 474 was invalid because the rule was inconsistent with section 51(d), on the ground that fixtures must be treated as a separate appraisal unit in order to recognize maximum depreciation on the fixtures. (Opinion, pp. 18-20.) On an issue independently raised by the trial court, the Court of Appeal also held that the Board's EIS was inadequate under Government Code section 11346.5, subdivision (a)(8). (Opinion, p. 28.)

The Court of Appeal erred in ruling, without supporting authority, that oil refinery appraisal units must be selected to maximize depreciation. (Opinion, pp. 18-20.) In fact, there is no constitutional or statutory right to recognize fixture depreciation that the marketplace has not recognized. (See Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 1 & XIII A, §§ 1, 2; Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 51, subd. (a)(2), 110, subd. (a).) The Court of Appeal also erred in its creation of a new standard for EIS preparation that prevents the use of projections. The Court of Appeal additionally confused the different requirements of Government Code section 11346.5, subdivisions (a)(8) and (a)(9).

The Court of Appeal misinterpreted section 51(d) by ignoring both the statute's plain meaning and the constitutional fair market valuation mandate. The Court of Appeal's error undermines the Board's quasilegislative authority under Government Code section 15606, subdivisions (c) and (e) by creating an inflexible interpretation that, on its face, appears to permanently lock fixtures into a separate appraisal unit regardless of marketplace circumstances, in violation of the fair market valuation requirements of the California Constitution. (Opinion, pp. 18-20; Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 1 & XIII A, § 2; Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 51, subd. (a)(2), 51, subd. (d), 110, subd. (a).)

While the Court of Appeal acknowledged the Board's regulatory authority (Opinion, pp. 2-3; see Cal. Const., art. XIII, §§ 17, 18; see also Gov. Code, § 15606), the Court of Appeal's conclusion that fixtures must

always constitute a separate appraisal unit for all types of properties,<sup>7</sup> essentially eliminated the Board's quasi-legislative rulemaking authority to define appraisal units, and establishes a judicially created property tax loophole for petroleum refineries.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court exercises independent review of whether Rule 474 is consistent with section 51(d). When reviewing a quasi-legislative regulation for compliance with the APA, the Court's scope of review is narrow. (Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 11.) To determine whether the adoption of Rule 474 is necessary and proper under Government Code section 11350, the Court need only decide if the agency's adoption of the regulation is "arbitrary or capricious." (20th Century Ins. Co. v. Garamendi (1994) 8 Cal.4th 216, 272-273.)

The Court of Appeal held that the trial court demonstrated adequate deference to the Board's interpretation of the statutes supporting Rule 474. (Opinion, at p. 16.) But the Court of Appeal should have granted more deference to the Board because Rule 474 is a quasi-legislative regulation. Rule 474 is a new rule adopted pursuant to the Board's quasi-legislative authority under Government Code section 15606, and approved by the Office of Administrative Law (OAL) for future application, which implements and makes specific the appropriate appraisal unit for use in the valuation of petroleum refineries in determining declines in value. In contrast, quasi-adjudicative administrative actions interpret and apply existing law to existing facts. (20th Century Ins. Co. v. Garamendi, supra, 8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Properties covered by the existing exceptions to Rule 461(e) set forth in Rules 468, 469 & 473, and single-family residences, however, went unmentioned.

Cal.4th at p. 275.) When an agency acts in its quasi-legislative capacity its action comes, "freighted with [a] strong presumption of regularity." (Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 11.)

Rule 474 is not an interpretation of section 51(d) applied to a specific set of facts. Rule 474 is a new rule for general application to petroleum refineries created for the purpose of instructing county assessors about their proper appraisal. The Board provided this guidance to fulfill its statutory obligation to instruct county assessors on proper appraisal methodology. (See *Hahn v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1999) 73 Cal.App 4th 985, 997; *State Bd. of Equalization v. Board of Supervisors, supra,* 105 Cal.App.3d at p. 819.) The Court of Appeal failed to narrow its determination to whether the Board's adoption of Rule 474 is arbitrary or capacious. The resulting error effectively dictates to the Board how it should exercise its discretion to instruct county assessors under Government Code section 15606.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE PROMULGATION OF PROPERTY TAX RULE 474
IS A PROPER EXERCISE OF THE BOARD'S DUTY TO
INSTRUCT CALIFORNIA'S COUNTY ASSESSORS ON
THE APPRAISAL METHODOLOGIES FOR
PETROLEUM REFINERY REAL PROPERTY IN THE
EVENT OF A DECLINE IN VALUE.

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