## SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S200475

DEC 17 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WESTERN STATES PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION,

Defendant and Appellant

On Appeal from the Court of Appeal, Second District, Division 8 Appellate Court Case No. B225932

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO BRIEF ON THE MERITS

C. STEPHEN DAVIS (No. 93674) CRIS K. O'NEALL (No. 126160) ANDREW W. BODEAU (No. 183600) CAHILL, DAVIS & O'NEALL, LLP 550 S. Hope Street, Suite 1650 Los Angeles, California 90071

Telephone: 213/622-0600 / Facsimile: 213/622-9825

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- A. RULE 474 VIOLATES THE APA'S CONSISTENCY REQUIREMENTS.
  - 1. Rule 474 Is Based on the Unsupported Contention that for "Most Types of Properties, Fixtures Sell Separately From Land in the Marketplace."

The Board asserts that, "[f] or most types of properties, fixtures typically sell separately from land and improvements in the marketplace." (OB 4, 12, emphasis added. See also 2-AA-577, 579, 589.) This "typical" experience contrasts, according to the Board, with refineries that commonly sell as an operating unit. There is no evidence in the Rulemaking File supporting this assertion, and the Board does not cite any supporting evidence in its Opening Brief.

No evidence was presented that other heavily fixturized facilities sell without the fixtures required to operate. It was not shown, for example, that an amusement park would sell without rides; that a brewery would sell without brew kettles and bottling lines; that an ice cream manufacturing plant would sell without packaging lines, mixers, and refrigerated storage facilities; that a power plant would sell without generators; or that a ski resort would sell without chair lifts. Judge Hess observed that the Rulemaking File contained "assertions" that refiners were "somehow" different, but there was no support for that bare assertion. (11-AA-3274 [Trial Court Decision].)

Fixtures can be and are sold separately from time to time, but operating enterprises are typically sold as a unit. There is no evidence that fixtures and land for "most types of properties" are sold separately. The

factual assumption supporting the Board's reliance on the "marketplace" criteria is wholly without evidentiary support.

## 2. Rule 474 Is Invalid Because it Fails to Satisfy the APA's Consistency Criteria.

The APA is necessarily a compromise. The Legislature could not require agencies to exercise good judgment or good faith when adopting regulations, but it could require agencies to defer to the Legislature and refrain from undermining or contradicting the Legislature's own acts.

Rule 474 violates the APA's "consistency" requirements. The "consistency" standard provides that "[n]o regulation adopted is valid or effective unless consistent and not in conflict with the statute." (Sections 11342.2, 11349.1.) "Consistency" means "being in harmony with, and not in conflict with or contradictory to, existing statutes, court decisions, or other provisions of law." (Section 11349(d).) An administrative regulation that is inconsistent with a statute is void. (*Morris v. Williams* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 733, 737; *Ontario Community Foundations, Inc. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1984) 35 Cal.3d 811, 816.)

# a. Rule 474 is inconsistent with Proposition 13 and R&T 51 because it taxes unrealized increases in land value.

Propositions 13 and 8 established two constitutional imperatives: (1) prohibiting assessment of unrealized increases in property values (*Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 235); and, (2) mandating accounting for declines in value (*State Bd. of Equalization, supra*, 105 Cal.App.3d at 822-823; see also Prop. 8).

The mandate to account for declines in value resulting from depreciation is expressly codified in R&T 51. R&T 51(a) implements California Constitution, article XIIIA, section 2(b) (a portion of Prop. 13):

[T]he taxable value of real property shall ... be the lesser of: (1) Its base-year value, compounded annually since the base-year by an inflation factor, ... [or] (2) Its full cash value, as defined in section 110, as of the lien date, taking into account reductions in value due to damage, destruction, depreciation, obsolescence, removal of property or other factors causing a decline in value.

(Emphasis added.) In other words, under R&T 51 and Prop. 13, taxable value is the lesser of the adjusted base-year value or current market value, accounting for reductions in value resulting from depreciation.

R&T 51(d) ensures that depreciation is accounted for by segregating land from depreciating fixtures: "... 'real property' means that appraisal unit that persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a unit, or that is normally valued separately." (Emphasis added.)

As Board Staff noted during the Rule 474 rulemaking process: "Fixtures typically depreciate in value. Land typically appreciates in value." (1-AA-168.) Consequently, R&T 51(d)'s "or that is normally valued separately" language was intended to ensure that fixture depreciation is recognized under R&T 51(a)(2). (See 3-AA-807, 810 [Assembly Report]; 1-RA-226; 2-RA-495; 1-RA-274, 275.)

The Board acknowledges that using a single unit of appraisal that includes both fixtures and land will eliminate consideration of fixture depreciation: "Under Propositions 13 and 8, when properties are included in a single appraisal unit with different useful lives, the declines in value of

the shorter-lived assets due to depreciation may be masked by the overall fair market value of the combined unit as a whole." (OB 18.) Thus, the Board concedes that its "marketplace" test is inconsistent with the mandate to account for depreciation.

Rule 474 eliminates ("masks") any accounting for depreciation contrary to the constitutional mandate to account for declines in value, as implemented by R&T 51, and so violates constitutional and statutory standards.

The assessment method established by Rule 474 violates constitutional standards for a second reason as well. Proposition 13 allows the reassessment of land, in whole or in part, under only three circumstances: a change in ownership, new construction, and a capped inflation adjustment. Rule 474, however, allows unrealized increases in land and improvements value, not assessable under Prop. 13, to offset actual declines in fixture value resulting from depreciation even if none of the three exceptions occur. In so doing, Rule 474 violates a central tenet of Prop. 13, as well as R&T 51(d) and Rule 461(e), by allowing land value in excess of the base-year value cap on land to be assessed. As bluntly recognized by the Board Staff in a similar context: "Essentially this treatment eliminates any value reduction with respect to the machinery and equipment due to depreciation...." (1-RA-219.) This offsetting effect was also acknowledged by the Board's lawyers at the March 19, 2010 hearing in the trial court. (RT-175:19-25.)

Rule 474 is necessarily inconsistent with article XIIIA, section 2(b) of the California Constitution and R&T 51, and is thus void.

b. Rule 474 is inconsistent with Rule 461(e) because it eliminates the consideration of fixtures as a separate appraisal unit for decline-in-value purposes.

Rule 461(e) expressly segregates land and fixtures to reflect factors causing declines in value: "For purposes of this subsection fixtures and other machinery and equipment classified as improvements constitute a separate appraisal unit." (Emphasis added.)

As chronicled earlier in this Answer, the Board has historically interpreted R&T 51's "normally valued separately" language as codifying Rule 461(e). A list of seventeen specific quotes from Board materials stating that fixtures are a separate appraisal unit for decline-in-value purposes is assembled at 9-AA-2467 to 2471.

In 1998, while efforts to revise AH-502 were underway, the California Assessors Association inquired whether Rule 461 was inconsistent with R&T 51(d). In response, Board Counsel Kris Cazadd, subsequently the Board's Chief Counsel and then the Board's Acting Executive Director, concluded that Rule 461 was consistent with R&T 51(d), and that R&T 51 was drafted to "accommodate" and "reflect" Rule 461. (2-RA-324; see also 1-RA-226 [1996 memorandum to Board Member D. Andal that R&T 51(d) "is an explicit exception that results from Rule 461(d)"].)

Fixtures have been uniformly considered as a separate appraisal unit by the Board for more than thirty years, under the "normally valued separately" language in R&T 51 and Rule 461. Rule 474 is inconsistent with both laws.

c. The Board's "marketplace" appraisal unit is inconsistent with R&T 51(d)'s legislative intent and renders the second clause of R&T 51(d) mere surplusage.

There is no historical support for the Board's assertion that the Legislature intended the phrase "normally valued separately" to refer to the unit of property transferred in the marketplace. (OB 6 ["proper appraisal unit is ... one that persons in the marketplace ... 'buy and sell' separately"].) To the contrary, the documented intent of R&T 51 and Rule 461 has always been to treat fixtures as a separate appraisal unit in order to account for depreciation. R&T 51 has been in effect for over three decades and has been amended six times (1981, 1984, 1985, 1995, 1998 and 2000) with no substantive change to R&T 51(d) and without a change in this intent. (See *Yu v. University of La Verne* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 779, 788 ["We presume that the Legislature, when enacting a statute, was aware of existing related laws and intended to maintain a consistent body of rules"], internal punctuation omitted.) Taxation must, of course, be uniform and the tax laws uniformly applied. (See *Trabue Pittman Corp. v. County of Los Angeles* (1946) 29 Cal.2d 385, 392-393, 397-398.)

The Board's longstanding consistent interpretation of R&T 51(d) and Rule 461(e), in the absence of contrary legislative action, establishes a presumption that the Legislature approved the Board's historical construction of Section 51(d). (*Moore v. California State Bd. of Accountancy* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 999, 1017-1018.) The Legislature has not amended R&T 51(d) to "defeat" Rule 461(e). (*Id.* at 1017.)

The test for consistency starts with the plain words of the statute (Californians Against Waste v. Department of Conservation (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 317, 321). The Board's omission of the second clause of

the definition established by R&T 51(d) from Rule 474 is *prima facie* evidence of inconsistency and renders that clause mere surplusage.

Alternatively, the marketplace concept is already expressly recognized by the first clause of the definition in R&T 51(d) (*i.e.*, "that persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a unit"), and so the second clause must have a separate and different meaning – interpreting the phrase "normally valued separately" to refer to the marketplace concept would be redundant.

The Board concedes that fair market valuations must account for depreciation, but only if doing so is consistent with the "marketplace," which is the "overriding principle," citing *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. County of Los Angeles* (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 715, 726; *Exxon Mobil Corp. v. County of Santa Barbara* (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 1347, 1353; and *City of San Diego v. Neumann* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 738, 756. (OB 22.) These cases do not involve fixtures assessment or distinguish between land and fixtures. None of these cases holds that, or even considers whether, the "marketplace" clause of R&T 51(d) "overrides" the "normally valued separately" clause of the same subdivision.

The Board also miscites Davis, Valuation Opinion Must be Based on Appraisal Practices Mimicking the Market: A Criticism of *Texaco Producing, Inc. v. County of Kern,* California Tax Lawyer, Winter 2000, pp. 4, 7 (10-AA-2779, 2782) for the proposition that the marketplace principle overrides the necessity of accounting for fixture depreciation. (OB 22.) That article does not address fixture assessment or appraisal units.

# d. The Board confuses the appraisal unit and California's property tax value standard.

The "appraisal unit" (the unit being valued) is conceptually distinct from the property tax assessment *value standard*. The Board asserts that real property tax valuations must be based upon the fair market/full cash value of real property, citing California Constitution, article XIII, section 1, article XIIIA (Prop. 13), section 2, and R&T 51 and 110. (OB 2.) These legal authorities refer to the fair market value/full cash value of property, and simply articulate the assessment value standard (value in exchange/willing buyer-willing seller).

The Court of Appeal has rejected the concept that statutory provisions addressing "full cash value" require property to be appraised as a single unit for decline-in-value assessments. (*County of Orange v. Orange County Assessment Appeals Bd.* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 524, 530-533.) There, the Court rejected the notion that subdivisions (a) and (b) of R&T 51, both of which refer to the term "full cash value" as defined in Section R&T 110, compelled the appraisal of a cable television system as a single unit, holding "[t]hose subdivisions say nothing about the propriety of dividing the appraisal unit into components to determine its value ....

Taken as a whole, neither section 51 in general, nor subdivision [d] in particular, mandate appraisal of the property as a single unit." (*Id.* at 530.)

## e. Rule 324(b) is consistent with R&T 51(d) and Rule 461(e). Rule 474 is not.

The Board relies heavily on Rule 324(b)'s "normally valued in the marketplace separately" language to support its assertion that Rule 474 is consistent with existing law. In fact, the Board would have the Court read the "in the marketplace" language from Rule 324(b) into Section 51

(OB 24-25) to support its "composite or unitary marketplace appraisal unit" concept.

The Board recites Rule 324(b) as follows: "An appraisal unit of property is a collection of assets that functions together, and that persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a single unit or that is normally valued *in the marketplace* separately from other property, or that is specifically designated as such by law." (OB 24, emphasis original.) The Board, however, ignores the operative clause, "or that is specifically designated as such by law," which was added to Rule 324(b) in 1990. That operative clause refers to Rule 461, which specifically designates fixtures as a separate appraisal unit: "For purposes of this subsection fixtures and other machinery and equipment classified as improvements constitute a separate appraisal unit." (Rule 461(e).) Rule 461(e) and R&T 51(d) (second clause) are the "law" referred to at the end of Rule 324(b).

Contrary to its current position, six years after Rule 324 was amended to include the "or that is specifically designated as such by law" language, the Board was advised by its counsel that Rule 324(b) is consistent with Rule 461. (1-RA-226.)

The Board cites *Exxon Mobil*, *supra*, 92 Cal.App.4th 1347 as endorsing the marketplace unit of appraisal concept articulated by Rule 324(b). (OB 25). Reliance on *Exxon Mobil* fails because that case considered assessment of oil and gas property, which "required specialized appraisal techniques" (*id.* at 1356) and because it did not consider the second clause in Rule 324(b) ("or that is specifically designated as such by law").

Rule 474's "marketplace" principle may define the economic unit, but it is inconsistent with R&T 51(d) and Rule 461(e) because it masks fixture depreciation which must be accounted for as a matter of law.

# 3. The Analogy to Property Tax Rules for Natural Resource Extraction Industries Does Not Support Rule 474.

The Board states, "Rule 474 is just another exception to the general rule of Rule 461(e)." (OB 20.) There are no analogous exceptions to Rule 461(e).

The Board refers to its Rules 468, 469 and 473 as analogous exceptions to Rule 461(d). Rules 468, 469 and 473 all relate to extractive industries (oil and gas, hard minerals like gold, and geothermal production). While these rules do establish exceptions to the requirement of Rule 461(d) that fixtures be treated as a separate appraisal unit, these three exceptions result from the unique characteristics of mineral extraction properties, which characteristics are not shared by refiners or other manufacturing enterprises.

Extractive properties are fundamentally different from manufacturing. Mineral properties have unique characteristics: the taxable interest is a profit à prendre, *i.e.*, a right to remove (explore for, develop and produce) minerals from property, the value of which is inextricably tied to the mineral reserves. (*Lynch v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1985) 164 Cal.App.3d 94, 102.) Further, Rules 468, 469 and 473 are all designed to address the depleting nature of mineral properties, which prevents them from being "treated in a manner identical to other types of property"

because the mineral interests "have no real parallel with other types of property." (*Id.* at 115, 117 [discussing Prop. 8 reductions under R&T 51].)

In contrast, the taxable property interest in a refinery is not the "right to remove" found in mineral properties, and refineries have no depleting or extractive aspect.

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